
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT


MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

Joseph S.  Cochran and Brenda S.  Cochran

RR#4 Box 140

Westfield PA 16950



--PLAINTIFFS, 



VS.

Ann Veneman, 

As Secretary, United States

Department of Agriculture 

and 

National Dairy Promotion Board,



--DEFENDANTS.




)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)




No.  


COMPLAINT

FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

FRCP 57 and 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202

SUMMARY OF ACTION

Joseph S.  Cochran and Brenda S.  Cochran (Cochrans), dairy producers located in Pennsylvania, who are not part of any collective body, in order to secure their right to speak or not speak as they, alone, choose, in the promotion of their milk products and not desiring to promote milk products manufactured by competitors of their customer, seek a declaratory judgment determining  that Dairy Promotion Program, Title I, Subtitle B of the Dairy and Tobacco Adjustment Act of 1983, Pub. L. 98-180, 97 Stat. 1128, 7 U.S.C. §4504(g)  (Act) is an unconstitutional restriction on their right to free speech, because the Act and the corresponding regulations require the Cochrans to monetarily support a program known as the Dairy Promotion Program and to join, against their will, in expressive association with other dairy producers solely for the purpose of funding speech even though they do not approve of that speech.  The Act, which authorizes the Dairy Promotion Program and the creation of the National Dairy Promotion and Research Board,  requires all dairy producers, including the Cochrans, to pay fifteen cents per hundredweight (cwt) on all their milk production for the purpose of compelled speech.   Because it is so funded, all dairy farmers, including the Cochrans, are compelled to speak through compelled support of generic advertising in violation of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.  The United States Supreme Court has held that a similar promotion program for mushroom producers violates the First Amendment.  U.S. v.  United Foods, Inc., 533 U.S. 405 (2001).  A case and controversy exists between the plaintiff-producers and the defendants as to whether or not the compulsory dairy promotion program violates the First Amendment. As a remedy, the Cochrans seek injunctive relief, preliminary and final, that prohibits the Secretary from enforcing the compelled contribution portion of the Act.

PARTIES
Plaintiffs

1.
The Cochrans are engaged in the production of milk for commercial use on a dairy farm located in Pennsylvania and, pursuant to the Act, are compelled to support  the  Dairy Promotion Program through the mandatory checkoff from their milk checks and through the attribution of the resulting speech to them as dairy producers.

Defendants


2.
Ann Veneman is the Secretary of the United States Department of Agriculture and is authorized by law to administer the Act including the collection of assessments against milk production.


3.
The National Dairy Promotion Board oversees the program and directs the expenditures.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE


4.
This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337(a) because this claim arises under the Constitution of the United States, First Amendment and laws of the United States (to wit: Title I, Subtitle B of the Dairy and Tobacco Adjustment Act of 1983, Pub. L. 98-180, 97 Stat. 1128) and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1346 because an officer and agency of the United States are proper party defendants.


5.
This Court has the authority to issue a declaratory judgment by virtue of 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202 and FRCP 57.


6.
This Claim has been brought in the proper forum because all the plaintiffs are residents of Tioga County, Pennsylvania, and the defendant is an officer or agency of the United States. 28 U.S.C. §1402 and 28 U.S.C. §118(b)(1).

BACKGROUND


7.
The Cochrans market the milk of their family farm independently.  


8.
The plaintiffs are currently forced to pay approximately $3500 to $4000 to the Dairy Promotion Program.


9.
In 1983 Congress passed P.L. 98-180 known as the "Dairy Production Stabilization Act of 1983".  7 U.S.C. §§4501- 4509.


10.
The provision which gives rise to the instant lawsuit is found at 7 U.S.C. §4504(g) which reads as follows:


(g) The order shall provide that each person making payment to a producer for milk produced in the United States and purchased from the producer shall, in the manner as prescribed by the order, collect an assessment based upon the number of hundredweights of milk for commercial use handled for the account of the producer and remit the assessment to the Board.  The assessment shall be used for payment of the expenses in administering the order, with provision for a reasonable reserve, and shall include those administrative costs incurred by the Department after an order has been promulgated under this subchapter.  The rate of assessment prescribed by the order shall be 15 cents per hundredweight of milk for commercial use or the equivalent thereof.  A milk producer or the producer's cooperative who can establish that the producer is participating in active, ongoing qualified State or regional dairy product promotion or nutrition education programs intended to increase consumption of milk and dairy products generally shall receive credit in determining the assessment due from such producer for contributions to such programs of up to 10 cents per hundredweight of milk marketed or, for the period ending six months after November 29, 1983, up to the aggregate rate in effect on November 29, 1983 of such contributions to such programs (but not to exceed 15 cents per hundredweight of milk marketed) if such aggregate rate exceeds 10 cents per hundredweight of milk marketed.  Any person marketing milk of that person's own production directly to consumers shall remit the assessment directly to the Board in the manner prescribed by the order.


11.
The sole purpose of the Act is to compel all dairy farmers including Cochrans to fund speech in which they either disagree or wish to remain silent.  Though some funds are for research, the research is for the purpose of supporting the compelled speech.


12.
The Dairy Promotion Act replaced the voluntary promotion programs that existed in many states and under the provisions of various federal milk marketing orders under the Agricultural Marketing Agreement Act. 7 U.S.C. §608c.


13.
The Act requires that any handler paying the Cochrans for their milk must reduce the amount of that payment by fifteen cents (15 cents) per cwt for Cochrans’ contribution to the Dairy Promotion Program.


14.
Producers who do not pay the assessment are subject to fines and penalties including a restraining order, a civil fine up to $1000 for each violation and, if willful, a penalty equal to 100 percent of the assessment levied.   TA \c 1 \s "7 U.S.C. §4510" \l "7 U.S.C. §4510" 7 U.S.C.  §4510.  The power of the federal courts can be used to enforce compliance.  Id. and  TA \c 1 \s "7 U.S.C. §4511" \l "7 U.S.C. §4511" 7 U.S.C. §4511.


15.
In 1983 the Secretary of Agriculture promulgated regulations for the administration of the Dairy Promotion Program.  These regulations are found at 7 C.F.R. Part 1150. 


16.
Pursuant to the Act, the Secretary issued regulations requiring all producers to contribute to the promotion.  7 C.F.R. §1150.152(a) reads as follows:


(A) Each person making payment to a producer for milk produced in the United States and marketed for commercial use shall collect an assessment on all such milk handled for the account of the producer at the rate of 15 cents per hundredweight of milk for commercial use or the equivalent thereof and shall remit the assessment to the Board.


17.
The National Dairy Promotion Board oversees the use of the funds.

18.
The Board is permitted by law to recommend amendments, which would include the continuance of the promotion order.


19.
Though generally prohibited from engaging in political advocacy, the Board can, and does, directly and indirectly, spend funds collected in part from the Cochrans to “promote the promotion” among other dairy farmers.  It does not spend any money or provide any resources for the support of those opposed to the promotion.

20.
The 15 cent cwt assessment represents a significant portion of the gross profit margin of the Cochran’s dairy operation. In some years the total assessment prevents the Cochrans from implementing essential farm management practices.  Failure to implement these practices impairs Cochrans’ ability to remain competitive in the ever-changing dairy industry.

21.
The Cochrans operate a dairy farm using traditional farming methods.  They contend that their use of sustainable agriculture in the form of less intensive herd management and grazing system makes for a superior milk, promotes a better use of the resources, promotes the environment, and, in sum, provides a healthier product for humans and our planet.


22.
The generic advertising for milk and milk products, for which they are required to pay, denies the existence of the value of such alternative sources of milk by its implication that milk is a generic product and, thus, runs counter to the Cochran’s own speech and views regarding the production and marketing of milk.

23.
There is no identifiable principle that can distinguish out of hand that a debatable issue exists  as to the total value of such marketing and production policies.

24.
Aside from being compelled to support the promotion of milk products, the Cochrans have full marketing autonomy and, in fact, they annually and individually negotiate with processing plants for the purchase of the milk produced on their farm.

25.
They market their milk outside of any cooperative marketing program that benefits from exemption from the antitrust laws.

26.
There are no marketing regulations regarding the amount of production that Cochrans can produce or how they can sell their milk except for sanitary regulations.

27.
All of the milk producers who participate like Cochrans in the Dairy Promotion Program are not otherwise so universally joined in any other collective activity.

28.
The Dairy Promotion Program is a separate, stand alone, program that is not integrated into or made a part of other programs that involve dairy specifically and agriculture generally.  It does not arise out of any collective activity of dairy producers.

29.
Quality and grading of milk is done through separate state-local inspection programs administered by the state and local governments.  They are not established by any collective activity of the producers.

30. 
Dairy producers may be further subject to other regulations, but none arise out of any collective activity in which the Cochrans participate voluntarily or involuntarily.    Each operate under different statutes, different regulations, different administrative boards or commissions, and each have different purposes and scopes.

31.
As milk producers, the Cochrans can not only decide whether to dairy, they can choose to produce grade B milk (for manufacturing purposes only) or grade A milk (for fluid as well as manufacturing purposes), and choose whether to individually market their milk or join in some way with other farmers to collectively market their milk.

32.
The Cochrans cannot, however, choose whether or not to promote products manufactured by others and fund nutrition propaganda that counters, weakens, or does not further their own opinions as to the different nutritional values in their milk as contrasted with the milk generically promoted.

CAUSE OF ACTION
33.
Compelled payment of money for the purpose of speech  violates the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, which reads 

Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances. 

34.
The Dairy Promotion Program clearly violates the First Amendment because:

a. 
It compels the Cochrans to support speech with which they do not agree or which they do not wish to make.

b. 
It raises a direct and immediate infringement on the Cochrans’ First Amendment rights because the assessment subsidizes speech that promotes the sale of dairy products that compete with the dairy products that the Cochrans’ milk is used to manufacture.

c. 
The compulsory financial participation in the speech and the attribution of that speech to all dairy producers implies that Cochrans agree with the advertisements when in fact plaintiffs may not so agree. 

d. 
It forces plaintiffs to expressly associate with other producers against their will for the sole purpose of sponsoring in speech and nothing else.

RELIEF SOUGHT


WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs hereby demand relief as follows: 1483.02


A.  That the Dairy Promotion Program, Title I, Subtitle B of the Dairy and Tobacco Adjustment Act of 1983, Pub. L. 98-180, 97 Stat. 1128 (Act), 7 U.S.C. §4504(g), be declared unconstitutional; and


B.  That the defendant Secretary and her agents and those acting in concert therewith be enjoined, temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently from assessing plaintiffs for the Dairy Promotion Program and using funds collected from plaintiffs; and


C.  That the defendant Secretary and Dairy Promotion Board and their agents and those acting in concert therewith be enjoined, temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently from compelling assessments in accordance with 7 C.F.R. §1150.152 and using such funds without the consent of those assessed; and


D.  That the defendant Secretary be directed to recoup and then refund any assessments collected by the Dairy Promotion Program from plaintiffs collected during the pendency of this case; and


E.  Enjoin the defendants from using funds collected under the Dairy Promotion Program in defense of this claim; and


F.  Award the plaintiffs attorneys fees and costs; and


G.  Provide such other relief that is appropriate in the premises.

Respectfully Submitted

HOLLAND, BRADY & GRABOWSKI, PC

BY:
_____________________________________

WALTER T.  GRABOWSKI

(Attorney ID # 28296)

61 North Washington Street

Wilkes Barre, PA 18701

570-606-6100

Fax 570-606-6106

BENJAMIN F.  YALE & ASSOCIATES, LPA

________________________________________

BENJAMIN F. YALE 

(OH ID # 0024730)

102 W. Wapakoneta St.

P. O. Box 100

Waynesfield OH 45896

419-568-5751

Fax 419-568-6413

benyale@cs.com

CENTER FOR INDIVIDUAL FREEDOM

By: ___________________________

RENEE L.  GIACHINO

GENERAL COUNSEL

901 N.  Washington Street, Ste 402

Alexandria, VA 22314

703-535-5836

Fax 703-535-5838

rgiachino@cfif.org
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